RECEIVED

May 27 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Florence County

Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DIANTE JA QUAN ROGERS,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2020-000135

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the trial court erred in refusing to allow the defense to use a written statement by a witness who heard the State's key witness, Juwan Smith, admit to shooting the victim because it violated **the State's** right to confront witnesses, citing Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004)?

2.

Whether the trial court erred in refusing to allow the defense to use a video from the robbery of a convenience store that occurred on the same day as the murder in this case showing the robber as someone who resembled Juwan Smith after Smith told the police that appellant committed the robbery and shot at the clerk?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Florence County grand jury indicted appellant Diante JaQuan Rogers for murder, criminal conspiracy, carjacking, kidnapping, discharging a firearm into a vehicle, and possession of a firearm during a violent crime. R. 489. On January 13, 2020, appellant was tried before the Honorable Thomas A. Russo and a jury. R. 1. Edgar L. Clements, III, represented the State. R. 1. William Vickery Meetze and Tamara Greer represented appellant. R. 1. The jury convicted appellant. R. 467, l. 3 – 25. Judge Russo sentenced appellant to life imprisonment for murder and concurrent terms on the other convictions. R. 487, l. 16 – 488, l. 12. This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Both issues on appeal concern the exclusion of evidence and are governed by the abuse of discretion standard. “An abuse of discretion occurs when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support.” State v. Arrowood, 375 S.C. 359, 366, 652 S.E.2d 438, 442 (Ct. App. 2007).

ARGUMENT

1.

The trial court erred in refusing to allow the defense to use a written statement by a witness who heard the State’s key witness, Juwan Smith, admit to shooting the victim because it violated the State’s right to confront witnesses, citing *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36 (2004).

On the afternoon of August 28, 2017, eighty-eight year-old Katherine Wilson (“Wilson”) pulled her car into her neighbor Lindwood Timmons’ driveway and began honking her horn. R. 29, l. 11 – 32, l. 11. Timmons came out of his barn and found Wilson in her running car with a gunshot wound. R. 29, l. 11 – 32, l. 11. Wilson told Timmons that she was at a stop sign when two men approached her car with a gun. R. 29, l. 11 – 32, l. 11. She “floored it” and did not stop until she got to Timmons’ house. R. 29, l. 11 – 32, l. 11. Timmons saw bullet holes in the car. R. 35, l. 16 – 38, l. 2. He called 911. R. 37, l. 19 – 38, l. 4. Six weeks later, Wilson died from complications from the gunshot wound. R. 146, l. 14 – 149, l. 19.

The State’s prosecution of appellant Diante Rogers (“Rogers”)¹ for Wilson’s death depended on the testimony of two witnesses of low credibility. These two key witnesses for the State were Juwan Smith (“Juwan”) and Alfred “Fredo” Lamar (“Fredo”), who both faced charges from the victim’s death. R. 275, l. 16 – 20. R. 289, l. 10 – 12. Fredo admitted he told multiple lies to the police. R. 230, l. 9 – 18. Juwan’s testimony about what he told the police was contradicted by the lead investigator. R. 362, l. 21 – 365, l. 4.

Fredo testified that after he left work from the Huddle House, he, Juwan, Rogers, Ingleque “Gleek” McKay, and Javarius “Gooney” Smith rode around in his girlfriend’s white BMW. R. 208, l. 2 – 209, l. 8. The five men drove to Timmonsville to drop off Gleek because

¹ Rogers’ nickname was “Little Bill.”

“he had a truancy charge and his mother was calling.” R. 209, l. 11 – 20. Juwan, Gleek, and Gooney were cousins. R. 206, l. 1 – 9.

Fredo denied being in a gang with Juwan, denied that he told police that Juwan was a high ranking “big homie” and denied that Juwan’s nickname was “RatchetRu,” with the “Ru” signifying he was in the Piru sect of the Bloods. R. 233, l. 13 – 234, l. 6. A police officer contradicted Fredo’s denials about Juwan being called “Ratchet Ru” and a “big homie.” R. 374, l. 16 – 375, l. 12. When confronted with a photograph of himself wearing a “red flag” and making a complicated gesture with the fingers of both hands, Fredo said he was making a peace sign. R. 235, l. 2 – 24. Defendant’s Ex. 1.

The men went to Gleek’s cousin “Pawn’s” house and Pawn gave Gleek a gun. R. 224, l. 3 – 8. They also went to a tire shop where a man brought Gooney a gun. R. 210, l. 21 – 211, l. 17. After letting Gleek out of the car, Fredo drove with Gooney in the front passenger seat. R. 212, l. 4 – 17. Juwan sat behind Fredo and Rogers sat behind Gooney. R. 212, l. 4 – 17.

Rogers and Gooney told Fredo to cut off a car they saw, which was Wilson’s car. R. 213, l. 16 – 214, l. 20. Gooney and Rogers got out of the BMW and approached Wilson’s car on foot. R. 215, l. 1 – 24. Initially, Fredo said “they” pointed guns at Wilson. R. 215, l. 1 – 3. Later on direct, Fredo claimed he only saw Rogers pointing a gun at Wilson. R. 219, l. 19 – 220, l. 25. Fredo saw Rogers shoot and he “got scared and took off.” R. 215, l. 1 – 24. He saw Wilson pull away from the scene and turn. R. 215, l. 1 – 24.

Juwan told Fredo “something bad would happen” to him if he did not turn around and get Rogers and Gooney. R. 215, l. 1 – 24. Fredo complied and picked up the two men. R. 215, l. 1 – 24. Fredo claimed they both were in the road with their guns pointed when he stopped and

they got in the car. R. 218, l. 11 – 21. They went to a Walmart in Florence where they stole a truck. R. 218, l. 14 – 23. Fredo followed them back to Mullins. R. 218, l. 14 – 23.

In his first statement to the police, Fredo said that the men took his car and that he did not go with them. R. 244, l. 23 – 245, l. 23. He then gave another statement omitting himself from the car during the shooting. R. 246, l. 5 – 249, l. 4. When the police confronted Fredo with the possibility of phone records showing him in Timmons ville, Fredo claimed Juwan had his phone all day. R. 249, l. 8 – 252, l. 1. Fredo continued to deny going to Timmons ville, but after pressure from the police became “emotional” and told them he only went against his will. R. 252, l. 1 – 254, l. 22. Fredo admitted he told two versions of the shooting—one with Juwan and Gooney with the guns, and the version he told on direct-examination with Rogers and Gooney holding the guns out of the car. R. 256, l. 24 – 257, l. 14. Among other versions, Fredo claimed they punched him and told him to remain silent about the shooting. R. 260, l. 21 – 261, l. 1.

After stealing the truck from Walmart, the men went in both cars to the Brew House, a coffee shop in Mullins. R. 261, l. 6 – 263, l. 6. Defense counsel showed Fredo several pictures from the Brew House’s cameras and Fredo ultimately identified Juwan as a man who entered the coffee shop. R. 262, l. 24 – 270, l. 12. Def. Ex. 2, 3, 4, 6.

Juwan testified that, about six months after he got out of prison, he met Fredo. R. 285, l. 8 – 12. Juwan had prior convictions for shoplifting, third-degree burglary, petty larceny, simple assault and battery, strong-arm robbery, second-degree assault and battery, and first-degree assault and battery. R. 288, l. 8 – 289, l. 9. Juwan identified “Pawn” as Robert Askins. R. 290, l. 18 – 291, l. 7.

Juwan claimed he went to the Huddle House to fill out a job application. R. 295, l. 11 – 23. Juwan borrowed Fredo’s car and picked up Rogers and Gooney. R. 295, l. 24 – 297, l. 3.

When Fredo got off work, they picked him up. R. 297, l. 4 – 7. Juwan’s family told him to bring Gleek home, so they went to Timmonsville. R. 296, l. 18 – 297, l. 7. Gooney suggested they contact Pawn and get some guns. R. 299, l. 24 – 301, l. 23. After some discussion at the tire store, the men waited in a nearby field for Pawn, who eventually brought them two semiautomatic pistols. R. 299, l. 24 – 301, l. 23.

The men then went to Juwan’s brother’s house and smoked marijuana. R. 302, l. 18 – 303, l. 2. Rogers asked to hold a gun. R. 303, l. 1 – 4. They left the house and were driving when Wilson drove by in her silver Impala. R. 304, l. 14 – 19. According to Juwan, Rogers said, “I want that right there.” R. 304, l. 15 – 19.

Rogers told Fredo to cut off Wilson’s car. R. 304, l. 20 – 25. Gooney and Rogers got out. R. 304, l. 20 – 25. Rogers approached Wilson’s car. R. 304, l. 20 – 25. Juwan said, “I guess she told him no and she was about to drive off, but I witnesses with my own two eyes him shoot into the car.” R. 304, l. 20 – 25. Rogers chased the car and continued to shoot. R. 306, l. 22 – 307, l. 9. Juwan did not know whether Gooney pointed a gun. R. 306, l. 22 – 307, l. 9.

Differing from Fredo, Juwan claimed Fredo turned around of his own free will. R. 308, l. 1 – 19. Also differing from Fredo, Juwan said all of them were in a gang. R. 314, l. 12 – 23. Juwan said he was not promised anything for testifying and only wanted to “give justice to Ms. Wilson.” R. 315, l. 8 – 22.

On cross-examination, Juwan admitted that during his most recent incarceration since the shooting he had spoken to Robert Askins. R. 336, l. 20 – 337, l. 23. He specifically denied that he told Askins that he shot and would take the blame in this case. R. 337, l. 3 – 7. The State rested after the conclusion of Juwan’s testimony. R. 337, l. 2 – 23.

The next morning, when court resumed, defense counsel informed Judge Russo that his next witness would be Victor Cooper (“Cooper”), a federal inmate. R. 342, l. 16 – 343, l. 3. While Cooper was housed at Effingham, he had the cell next to Robert “Pawn” Askins. R. 343, l. 4 – 344, l. 6. Cooper contacted the State and told them that he overheard Juwan tell Askins that he did the shooting and would take the blame. R. 343, l. 4 – 344, l. 6. Defense counsel informed the court that Cooper intended to invoke the Fifth Amendment if called to testify. R. 343, l. 4 – 344, l. 6. Defense counsel said he intended to enter Cooper’s statement as a prior inconsistent statement through extrinsic evidence through the officers that took his statement. R. 343, l. 4 – 344, l. 6.

Judge Russo said, “Okay. I think my reading—I think that’s—with nothing more than what you’ve shared, I think that’s a direct violation of the confrontation clause that they speak to under Crawford v. Washington.” R. 344, l. 7 – 345, l. 14. Judge Russo found that Cooper’s statement testimonial and that “unless the other side has had an opportunity to cross-examine or challenge the statement, then it’s a violation of the confrontation clause.” R. 343, l. 4 – 344, l. 6. The court refuted the notion that the State took the statement, distinguishing taking a statement from using it at trial. R. 343, l. 4 – 344, l. 6. “In this case, the witness, Mr. Cooper, and the statement he gave **would be against the State, and the State has the same rights as the defense has.**” R. 343, l. 4 – 344, l. 6. (emphasis added). The court ruled that if Cooper were unavailable because of the Fifth Amendment, it would then be a violation of Crawford and that the defense could not use extrinsic evidence of Cooper’s statement. R. 343, l. 4 – 344, l. 6.

Appellant called Cooper to the stand and he confirmed that he was housed at Effingham. R. 346, l. 24 – 347, l. 17. Cooper then said he “would like to remain silent” to appellant’s remaining questions about whether he met with the lead investigator, Mark Strickland and

whether he overheard any comments made by Juwan. R. 347, l. 18 – 348, l. 11. At this point, Judge Russo called the attorneys to the bench and forbade defense counsel from asking Cooper about the substance of the statement he overheard, ruling that meant “putting the statement in” and that it “just eviscerates Crawford.” R. 348, l. 12 – 351, l. 8. Appellant again asked that his objection be noted for the record. R. 348, l. 12 – 351, l. 8.

The trial judge erred in refusing to allow appellant to use Cooper’s statement because the confrontation clause does not apply to the State. The Sixth Amendment states, in relevant part, “In all criminal prosecutions, **the accused** shall enjoy the right to . . . be confronted with the witnesses against him.” U.S. Const. amend. VI (emphasis added). The Sixth Amendment, by its plain language, does not apply. The analysis of whether a statement is testimonial in Crawford does not apply.

The South Carolina Rules of Evidence, however, do apply, and allow admission as sought by appellant. Rule 613(b) provides that extrinsic evidence of a prior statement cannot be used unless the witness is first advised of its substance, the time and place it was made, to whom it was made, and given the opportunity to explain or deny the statement. Rule 613(b), SCRE. Appellant asked these foundation questions and was stopped by the trial judge. Rule 613(b) then states, “If a witness does not admit that he has made the prior inconsistent statement, extrinsic evidence of such statement is admissible.” Rule 613(b), SCRE. Cooper asked to remain silent. He therefore did not admit making the prior statements and evidence concerning the statements was admissible.

It is also unclear whether Cooper could properly assert any Fifth Amendment privilege. The Fifth Amendment only protects individuals against incriminating statements. “That a party has invoked the privilege against self-incrimination, however, does not end the matter. Instead,

it is well-settled that an invocation of the privilege is confined to instances where a person has reasonable cause to apprehend danger from his answer.” Grosshuesch v. Cramer, 377 S.C. 12, 22, 659 S.E.2d 112, 117 (2008). The question of what Cooper overheard Juwan say in no way incriminated Cooper in any crime. Id. Nor, by context, does it seem that questions about what Cooper overheard were incriminating. Id.

Furthermore, by telling the police what he heard, Cooper waived any Fifth Amendment privilege he may have had. Defendants’ statements are routinely admitted through police officers even though defendants do not testify because they waived their Fifth Amendment privileges by speaking to the police. Cooper’s testimony is no different. The State would be free to cross-examine its lead investigator, Strickland, on the taking of Cooper’s statement just as defendants cross-examine police officers who testify regarding the fruits of their interrogations.

Had the jury heard that Juwan admitted to shooting Wilson, it would have cast grave doubt on the State’s key, final witness. The defense was able to show that Juwan was a “big homie” ranking member of a gang. His criminal record was long and violent. The jury could have believed that Juwan used his position in the gang to deflect blame for Wilson’s death from himself to Rogers. This Court should reverse.

2.

The trial court erred in refusing to allow the defense to use a video from the robbery of a convenience store that occurred on the same day as the murder in this case showing the robber as someone who resembled Juwan Smith after Smith told the police that appellant committed the robbery and shot at the clerk.

During the break between Juwan’s direct and cross-examination, trial counsel put the substance of a chambers conference on the record. R. 316, l. 8 – 327, l. 4. Juwan told Strickland in a written statement and on a body camera video that Rogers committed an armed robbery at a convenience store in Marion County the same evening and “tried to smoke the clerk.” R. 316, l. 8 – 327, l. 4. Video of the robbery excluded Rogers as the person who went into the store and fired the gun. R. 316, l. 8 – 327, l. 4. According to defense counsel, the robber in the video was “somebody wearing the same clothes with the same wristbands” as Juwan wore in the pictures from the Brew House as identified by Fredo. R. 316, l. 8 – 327, l. 4. Appellant argued that showing Juwan trying to falsely pin another crime on appellant would profoundly impeach Juwan’s credibility. R. 316, l. 8 – 327, l. 4.

Judge Russo ruled that appellant could offer evidence about Juwan’s claim and testimony from officers that Rogers was not the one who entered the convenience store and fired, but refused to allow the video showing the man resembling Juwan into evidence. R. 316, l. 8 – 327, l. 4. The court ruled that introducing the video would be asking the jury to “decide an armed robbery case based on a photograph” with no other evidence and it would be confusing. R. 316, l. 8 – 327, l. 4.

On cross-examination, Juwan admitted telling the police that Rogers robbed a gas station, but denied saying that Rogers tried to “[s]moke the clerk.” R. 334, l. 14 – 335, l. 7. Officer Strickland testified that Juwan told him that appellant told a girl that he “just hit a lick for \$40

and tried to smoke the clerk.” R. 364, l. 25 – 366, l. 8. While defense counsel mixes up the names during his questioning, the solicitor clarified that Juwan meant Rogers robbed the store. R. 367, l. 4 – 368, l. 14. The defense called Officer Bobby Bethea who investigated the armed robbery. R. 367, l. 4 – 368, l. 14. Officer Bethea testified that Rogers was excluded from the “the gun situation.” R. 367, l. 4 – 368, l. 14.

The trial court erred in only letting the jury hear half of the story regarding the robbery and Juwan’s attempt to pin it on Rogers. “Bias, prejudice or any motive to misrepresent may be shown to impeach the witness either by examination of the witness or by evidence otherwise adduced.” Rule 608(c), SCRE. This evidence is analytically similar to the evidence wrongfully excluded in State v. Jones, 343 S.C. 562, 570, 541 S.E.2d 813, 817 (2001). In Jones, the defendant tried to cross-examine a witness about his prior dealings with the solicitor’s office to show his knowledge of the system and how it could be manipulated. Id. Just like in this case, the evidence in Jones supported the defense’s contention that the witness could have been the perpetrator of the crime. Id. Citing the defense’s right to cross-examine for bias, the Court reversed, citing Rule 608(c). Id.

Per defense counsel’s proffer, the video from the convenience store showed a man resembling Juwan robbing the store and firing a gun. The video was relevant to impeach Juwan’s credibility by showing him potentially committing a violent crime the same night as Wilson’s death and trying to pin it on Rogers. Had the jury seen this powerful evidence of Juwan’s bias and his willingness to falsely lay all blame on Rogers, the outcome of this case would have been different. This Court should reverse.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, appellant's convictions should be reversed.