**RECEIVED**

**Jun 14 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions  
The Honorable Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2020-000135

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

DIANTE JA QUAN ROGERS,

Appellant.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

EDGAR CLEMENTS, III  
Solicitor, Twelfth Judicial Circuit

180 North Irby Street

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

Furthermore, even if Cooper had been properly established as an unavailable witness, his testimony still is not of a type admissible under Rule 804(b). Rule 804(b), SCRE, provides that four types of statements are admissible when the declarant is unavailable: (1) former testimony; (2) statement under belief of impending death; (3) statement against interest; (4) statement of personal or family history. Cooper's testimony does not fit into any of these categories.

The purported statement was not a statement against Cooper's interest. It was allegedly a confession by Smith, and did not implicate Cooper in any way. Likewise, it was not former testimony. This exception requires that the statement was "[t]estimony given as a witness at another hearing of the same or a different proceeding, or in a deposition taken in compliance with law in the course of the same or another proceeding, if the party against whom the testimony is now offered, or, in a civil action or proceeding, a predecessor in interest, had an opportunity and similar motive to develop the testimony by direct, cross, or redirect examination." Rule 804(b)(1), SCRE.

Cooper's alleged statement was not "former testimony" for several reasons. First, it was not made at a "proceeding." While the exact context is unclear because Rogers did not proffer the officer's testimony, it is obvious that it did not occur at a legal proceeding such as a trial or preliminary hearing. Accordingly, it does not carry the indicia of reliability typically associated with a legal proceeding because it was not made in a formal setting under oath or affirmation. California v. Green, 399 U.S. 149, 158 (1970) (explaining in-court testimony promotes reliability by "impressing [the witness] with the seriousness of the matter and guarding against the lie by the possibility of a penalty for perjury").

Likewise, the State did not have a chance to cross-examine Cooper to test the truth and reliability of the statement. Rogers complains at length in his brief that the trial court based its ruling on Crawford v. Washington, a confrontation clause case. Of course, the Sixth Amendment right of confrontation applies only to a

criminal defendant. But Crawford recognizes that the confrontation clause rests on hearsay principles, the centerpiece of which is the "crucible of cross-examination." Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 61 (2004). "[I]t is only in the examination and cross-examination, that the knave can be detected, errors of fact exposed, or false imaginations expunged, and the whole narration of a witness reduced down to its measure of exact truth and legal application to the particular case before the court." State v. Campbell, 30 S.C.L. 124, 126 (S.C. App. L. 1844) (cited by the Crawford court). Because prosecutors never had a chance to cross-examine Cooper regarding the alleged statement he overheard, Rogers cannot satisfy this element of Rule 804(b).

Cooper's purported statement was rank hearsay. Rogers sought to admit a prisoner's out-of-court statement made without oath, without cross-examination, and without an opportunity for the fact-finding jury to observe his demeanor. To do so would have eviscerated the hearsay rule, the "most characteristic rule of the Anglo-American Law of Evidence—a rule which may be esteemed, next to jury trial, the greatest contribution of that eminently practical legal system to the world's methods of procedure." 2 Robert P. Mosteller et al., McCormick On Evidence, § 244 (8th ed.). The trial judge correctly excluded the evidence. This Court should affirm.

**II. The trial court correctly excluded a gas station surveillance photo from an unrelated armed robbery because it had low probative value, would have confused the issues at trial, and was improper impeachment evidence under the rules of evidence.**

Rogers next argues the trial court erred by excluding a surveillance photo showing an armed robbery that occurred at a gas station in Mullins on the night Ms. Wilson was shot. Rogers offered the photo in an attempt to prove Juwan Smith was the person that robbed the gas station. Rogers asserted this would show Smith lied to police by "inference" when he told them he heard from a neighbor that Rogers admitted to committing the robbery. The issue is not preserved for review because Rogers failed to make the photo part of the record, foreclosing a meaningful prejudice analysis. Even if preserved, the trial court correctly excluded the photograph because it had little probative value and would have confused the true issue at trial: whether Rogers was guilty of Wilson's murder. Furthermore, the photo was improper impeachment evidence under Article VI of the rules of evidence. This Court should affirm.

**A. Standard of review.**

The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and its ruling will not be disturbed in the absence of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice. State v. Collins, 409 S.C. 524, 530, 763 S.E.2d 22, 25 (2014). The appellate court "will not disturb a trial court's ruling concerning the scope of cross-examination of a witness to test his or her credibility, or to show possible bias or self-interest in testifying, absent a

manifest abuse of discretion.” State v. Fuller, 425 S.C. 468, 476, 822 S.E.2d 910, 914 (Ct. App. 2019). “[C]onsiderable latitude and discretion should be allowed the trial [court] in determining the admissibility of impeaching testimony.” State v. Williams, 409 S.C. 455, 468, 761 S.E.2d 770, 777 (Ct. App. 2014). The appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, decision or judgment upon any ground appearing in the record. Rule 220(c), SCACR.

A trial judge's decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances. Collins, 409 S.C. at 534, 763 S.E.2d at 28. “If judicial self-restraint is ever desirable, it is when a Rule 403 analysis of a trial court is reviewed by an appellate tribunal.” State v. Daise, 421 S.C. 442, 464, 807 S.E.2d 710, 721 (Ct. App. 2017). “A trial [court]'s balancing decision under Rule 403 should not be reversed simply because an appellate court believes it would have decided the matter otherwise because of a differing view of the highly subjective factors of the probative value or the prejudice presented by the evidence.” Williams, 409 S.C. at 464, 761 S.E.2d at 775.

**B. Relevant facts.**

Following the State's direct examination of Juwan Smith, Rogers requested an in camera hearing to determine the admissibility of extrinsic evidence to impeach Smith's testimony. Rogers explained his intent to introduce a photograph from a surveillance camera at a gas station in Mullins where an armed robbery occurred on the same day of the killing of Ms. Wilson. Defense counsel intended to

offer the picture to show that Smith lied to police by "inference" when he claimed to have heard from a neighbor that Rogers admitted to committing the robbery. (R.p.320–21).

The alleged lie in question, Smith's statement to Investigator Strickland at the Florence County jail, was later made a court's exhibit. (Court's Exhibit #2). In the interview, Smith told police he heard from a neighbor that Rogers had admitted to the robbery, and that he had tried to "smoke the clerk." (Court's Exhibit #2 around 5:45). Defense counsel asserted that Smith's statement raised an "inference that [Smith] wasn't involved in that." (R.p.320–21). According to defense counsel, the surveillance picture from the convenience store showed that the robber's clothing and appearance actually resembled Juwan Smith. (R.p.319). Defense counsel offered the surveillance still to show that Smith was "the one in the video. . . ." (R.p.322). Accordingly, the only fact Rogers attempted to prove by introducing the photograph was that Smith lied by "inference" about being involved in an unconnected armed robbery because Smith's statement suggested he had no "personal knowledge of it." (R.p.320).

The trial court agreed to allow Rogers to inquire into Smith's statement to police implicating Rogers in the robbery through hearsay. The trial court reasoned evidence of Smith's alleged false statement to police could be relevant to assess Smith's credibility in general, and that defense counsel could inquire of the Mullins officer whether Smith's statement was borne out by his investigation. (R.p.321–22). However, the trial court refused to allow defense counsel to introduce the

photograph itself, reasoning that to do so would be akin to asking the jury to determine who actually committed the robbery. The court explained:

[T]he endgame is that you would then be asking this jury not only to decide this case, but then to decide an armed robbery case based on a photograph . . . with no other evidence or testimony involving that case . . . to basically solve that case. And I think it lends tremendous confusion here and is asking them to do something that I don't think they're in a position to do. And I think you can still accomplish your purpose of impeaching the witness through Officer Bethea.

(R.p.322).

Rogers questioned Smith regarding his statement during cross-examination. He asked Smith whether he told Investigator Strickland that he heard Rogers committed the robbery. Smith admitted that he had "gotten word" that Rogers admitted to committing the robbery, but denied telling Investigator Strickland he had only gotten \$40, or that Rogers "tried to smoke the clerk." (R.p.334–35).

During the presentation of his case, Rogers called Investigator Strickland. Through Strickland, Rogers introduced evidence that: 1) Smith did claim to have heard that Rogers admitted to the robbery; 2) that Smith said he heard Rogers only got \$40; and 3) that Smith said he heard that Rogers admitted to trying to "smoke the clerk." (R.p.351–66).

Rogers also called Officer Bobby Bethea. Bethea investigated the gas station armed robbery case. Bethea testified he investigated Rogers for the robbery but determined that Rogers was not the person who used a firearm during the robbery. (R.p.368). He did not say that he determined Rogers was not involved, and did not give any more information about the result of his investigation.

### C. Error preservation.

Rogers failed to preserve this issue for review. Rogers' argument rests on the premise that Juwan Smith committed the gas station robbery. The only evidence Rogers cited as proof of this fact was the gas station surveillance photo, but Rogers failed to make the photograph part of the record. This Court is left with defense counsel's mere assertion that the person in the photo resembled Smith. Because he did not proffer the photograph, Rogers has failed to create a sufficient record to enable appellate review. See Helms Realty, Inc. v. Gibson-Wall Co., 363 S.C. 334, 339, 611 S.E.2d 485, 487-88 (2005) (noting that appellant has the burden of establishing a sufficient record and declining to address the merits of a claim when facts underlying the claim are not included in the record); State v. Mitchell, 330 S.C. 189, 199, 498 S.E.2d 642, 647 (1998) (finding review of possible trial court error, in relation to a written statement discovered after jury deliberations began, foreclosed where the statement was not made part of the record because "Appellant never attempted to have the statement admitted").

Not only is this Court unable to substantively review the trial court's ruling, it is unable to assess whether Rogers suffered any prejudice as a result. See State v. Cabbagestalk, 281 S.C. 35, 36, 314 S.E.2d 10, 11 (1984) ("We are unable to determine from the record whether the testimony *was so material as to render its exclusion prejudicial*. Failure to make an offer of proof precludes the appellant from raising the issue on appeal.") (emphasis added). For the surveillance photo to be material (and for Rogers to suffer any prejudice from its exclusion), it would have to

be of such high quality to definitively prove to a jury that Juwan Smith committed the robbery. Anything less would only further confuse the issue. This is extremely unlikely because gas station surveillance systems are notoriously of poor quality; it is doubtful that *any* surveillance photo would be sufficient by itself to prove to a jury that any particular stranger was the person in the photograph. It is possible that this surveillance photo provided a crystal clear image; but this Court will never know because Rogers failed to make it an exhibit. Rogers's failure to proffer the photo forecloses a finding of prejudice.

Because Rogers did not make the surveillance photo a part of the record, this Court is unable to substantively review the lower court's ruling. Accordingly, the issue is not preserved for review. This Court should affirm.

**D. Discussion.**

Even if preserved, the trial court correctly excluded the photograph. The only purpose of introducing the photo was to prove that Smith committed an unrelated armed robbery. This is far more than the rules allow. The record supports the trial court's finding that admission of the photograph would confuse the issues and distract the jury from their true task: to determine whether Rogers was guilty of the murder of Katherine Wilson. This Court should affirm.

Several rules of evidence inform the analysis:

**Rule 608, SCRE.** (b) Specific instances of the conduct of a witness, for the purpose of attacking or supporting the witness' credibility, other than conviction of crime as provided in Rule 609, may not be proved by extrinsic evidence. They may, however, in the discretion of the court, if probative of truthfulness or untruthfulness, be inquired

into on cross-examination of the witness (1) concerning the witness' character for truthfulness or untruthfulness, or (2) concerning the character for truthfulness or untruthfulness of another witness as to which character the witness being cross-examined has testified. (c) Bias, prejudice or any motive to misrepresent may be shown to impeach the witness either by examination of the witness or by evidence otherwise adduced.

**Rule 611, SCRE.** (b) A witness may be cross-examined on any matter relevant to any issue in the case, including credibility.

**Rule 613, SCRE.** (b) Extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement by a witness is not admissible unless the witness is advised of the substance of the statement, the time and place it was allegedly made, and the person to whom it was made, and is given the opportunity to explain or deny the statement. If a witness does not admit that he has made the prior inconsistent statement, extrinsic evidence of such statement is admissible. However, if a witness admits making the prior statement, extrinsic evidence that the prior statement was made is inadmissible. This provision does not apply to admissions of a party-opponent as defined in Rule 801(d)(2).

**Rule 403, SCRE.** Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.

The trial court based its decision on Rule 403. Evidence supports the trial court's finding that Rogers' attempt to show that Smith committed the gas station robbery would lend "tremendous confusion" to the actual issues at trial. (R.p.322). The facts of the armed robbery were not relevant to prove whether Rogers was guilty of murdering Katherine Wilson. Defense counsel admitted as much in his

closing argument when he admitted that the armed robbery was "not significant to this case" but was relevant to Smith's credibility because "[i]f you're going to be dishonest about these kinds of things, there's not much else you won't be dishonest about." (R.p.426–27).

There is a patent weakness in Rogers' argument: only by first proving his codefendant guilty of the armed robbery would that crime have any relevance to the murder charge. This would have led to a "trial within a trial," resulting in a confusing mess. See State v. Cottrell, 421 S.C. 622, 641, 809 S.E.2d 423, 434 (2017) (explaining trial court did not abuse its discretion by excluding defense evidence about an unrelated murder because the testimony "would have necessarily led to a 'trial within a trial' that would . . . confuse the issues and mislead the jury"); Vanover v. State, 433 S.C. 31, 856 S.E.2d 160, 165 (Ct. App. 2021), reh'g denied (Apr. 5, 2021) (citing Cottrell and noting "the trial court has discretion to exclude evidence if admitting the evidence would lead to a 'trial within a trial' that might confuse the issues and mislead the jury"); State v. Cope, 405 S.C. 317, 340, 748 S.E.2d 194, 206 (2013) (affirming exclusion of evidence of other crimes offered against codefendant under Rule 403); State v. Lyles, 379 S.C. 328, 340, 665 S.E.2d 201, 207 (Ct. App. 2008) (explaining trial court properly excluded bad act evidence by third party because it was "not probative of any issue material to reaching a verdict" despite defense counsel's assertion it was relevant to witness credibility). Guilt of Katherine Wilson's murder should not have been premised on proof of an

unrelated crime. The trial court correctly found the evidence would confuse the issues at trial.

Not only did the photograph carry the potential for confusing the issues by creating a "trial within a trial," it had little probative value. As defense counsel noted, Smith never claimed to have "personal knowledge" of the robbery. (R.p.320, lines 24–25). He was merely repeating hearsay from an unidentified person. Regardless of who actually committed the robbery, Smith could have "gotten word" that Rogers admitted to the robbery. (R.p.364–66). See State v. Price, 368 S.C. 494, 499, 629 S.E.2d 363, 366 (2006) (explaining one of the reasons why the improper admission of hearsay evidence was harmless was because the hearsay evidence was impeached by the jury's exposure to the fact the evidence was not based on any first-hand knowledge). This may explain defense counsel's carefully-worded argument that Smith's statement created an "inference" that he was not involved. (R.p.320). Finally, the very fact that the statement pertained to an unrelated crime shows that it had limited value in determining whether Rogers was guilty of murdering Ms. Wilson. Thus, not only was the statement a mere repetition of hearsay, it was not even pertinent to the charged crime. The probative value was low.

In addition to being confusing under Rule 403, the photo was inadmissible under Rules 608, 611, and 613. Each of these rules is relevant to certain parts of Rogers' cross-examination of Smith and presentation of his defense. Under Rule 611, Rogers was entitled to cross-examine Smith about "any matter relevant to any

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